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REASONS FOR JUDGMENT 

THE COURT: This is an appeal against an order for committal made against the 

appellant ("Mr Leymong") by Acting Chief Justice Lunabek on 19 August 1997. The order 

recited that the Court was satistied that Mr Leymang had been guilty of contempt in the face 

of the Court by refusing on 21, 22 and 29 July 1997 to disclose information in the course of 

an examination under oath pursuant to an order of the Supreme Court dated 21 July 1997. 

The order had been made in proceedings brought by the Ombudsman pursuant to s 17(7) of 

the Ombudsman Act No. 14 of 1995. The appellant refused to disclose the names of persons 

known to him who allegedly made complaints about "Mr X" (the name of the person 

\;omplained about was not publicly disclosed because of contidentiality attaching to an 

.enquiry being conducted by the Ombudsman in respect of which the questions were asked). 

The Court order then provided as follows: 
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Mr Gerard Leymang stands committed to a prison at the direction of the 
Police Commissioner for a period of six months from the date of his 
apprehension. 

Mr Gerard Leymang pay a fine of Vt 100, 000 immediately; and 

Mr Gerard Leymang pay to the Ombudsman's Office costs in the amount of Vt 
100,.000 immediately. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this order of the Court lie unexecutedfor a period 
(If 21 calendar days (ie by 4 pm Monday 8 September 1997) if the respondent, Mr 
Leymang: 

(a) Purges the contempt bejiJre 4 pm Monday 8 September 1997 by providing the 
said il1formation under oath to the satisfaction of the Court (with the exception 
Ihal the order (!f costs infavow of the Ombudsman shall remain); or 

(h) Files and serves a notice of appeal hy 4 pm Monday 8 Septemher 1997 against 
this order in which case the order shall lie unexecuted pending determination 
(jfsuch appeal. " 

~ notice of appeal was filed on 8 September 1997. The order for committal has remained 
• 
unexecuted pending the determination ofthe appeal by this Court. 

The matters leading up to the making of the order for committal are complex. For present 

purposes it is not necessary to go into all of them as they are all fully recorded in the reasons 

for judgment of Lunabek ACJ dated 25 August 1997. It is sufficient to record the following 

central events. Mr Leymang is a senior and respected leader in the Republic of Vanuatu. 

Before becoming involved in politics, he was educated in Vanuatu, New Caledonia and 

France. He became a priest in the Catholic Church. He was one of the founders of the U~ 

Party, and in 1978 became the nrst Chief Minister when Vanuatu became sell~governing 

,before independence which followed in 1980. In 1992 he was appointed to the position of 

head of Cabinet and First Secretary to the Prime Minister in the Government of Prime 

Minister Carlot Korman. During 1993 in that position he was involved with events which led 

to the non-renewal of a residency permit of Mr X, who had hitherto been a long time resident 
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of Vanuatu. Mr X made a complaint on 13 January 1995 to the Ombudsman about the non-

renewal of his residency permit. The office of Ombudsman was created by Article 61 of the 

Constitution of the Republic of Vanuatu. The Ombudsman has wide powers of enquiry to 

'i'hich more detailed reference is made later. On 13 September 1996 Mr Leymang was served 

with a summons to appear as a witness by the Ombudsman. The summons was headed "In the 

matter of an enquiry by the Ombudsman of Vanuatu under the Constitution and 

Ombudsman's Act". The summons required Mr Leymang to attend on 15 October 1996 to 

give evidence in a confidential matter being inquired into by the Ombudsman namely 

"Enquiry into the non renewal of [Mr X's] permit". The summons also required Mr Leymang 

to produce documents . 

• 
The summons had been preceded by requests by the Ombudsman to Mr Leymang in informal 

"interviews to disclose the name of a person or persons who had made complaint to him about 

Mr X. He acknowledged that people had complained to him but refused to disclose their 

identity, he now says on the grounds that the information was given to him in confidence by 

those that made the complaint. A written request was then made by the Ombudsman to Mr 

Leymang for the information. The request was relitsed. Then came the summons. On the 

appointed day, 15 October 1996, Mr Leymang refused to give the information on oath. The 

Ombudsman was at that tin1e seeking to exercise power under Article 62 of the Constitution 

and s 17(2) and (3) of the Ombudsman Act. 

On 21 October 1996 Mr Leymang Ii led a Constitutional petition III the Supreme Court, 

"identilied in these proceedings as Civil ease No. 139 of 1996. Inthe Constitutional petition he 

sought to challenge the validity of the appointlllent of the Ombudsman. He alleged that the 
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appointment of the Ombudsman was invalid on the ground that the process of consultation 

preceding the selection of an Ombudsman envisaged by Article 61 (1) of the Constitution and 

s 5(1) of the Ombudsman Act had not occurred. Many procedural steps have occurred in Civil 

,ase No. 139 of 1996, but the petition has not yet been heard. Whilst the petition has been 

brought to the attention of this Court, the action is not before us. The petition was not ready 

for trial at the time when the order for committal was made against Mr Leymang. It is far 

from clear that the petition is ready for trial even now. 

On 29 January 1997 the Ombudsman made application to the Supreme Court pursuant to 

s 17(7) of the Ombudsman Act for an order that Mr Leymang be examined on oath before the 

Court to obtain answers to the questions that he had hitherto refused to answer. Section 17(7) 

• 

• 

provides: 

"(7) If any person fails or refilses to appear or fails or re/ilses to provide any 
information after having been served with a summons, the Ombudsman may 
apply to the Court/iJr the person to be summoned to appear b~fore the Court 
andjilrnish the injiJrmation or other thing requested in the summons. " 

The supporting affidavit hom the Ombudsman deposed that: 

"2. The iYljimnation is required by me .jiJr the purpose of an enquily that the 
Ombudsman '.I' Office is conducting stemming ./i'om the decision by the 
Immigration Department to r~jilse to renew Ihe residency permit of [Mr X]. 
On or about I7 Januar)l 1995 I initiated the enlfllirjl ajier receiving a 
complaint./i'om [Mr Xl on 13 Januwy 1995. 

3 . The 1110st important part otthe scope of the enqllir}' relates to pOlential 
breaches o/the Leadership Code principles set out in Chapter 10 of the 
Constilution (articles 66 & 67). AccordingZy, the enljllil)' is not exclusively or 
even principally concerned with illegality or unreasonableness of the decision 
of itself The decision, on the basis oj'the inj'ormatiol1 obtained to dale by the 
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Ombudsman's Of/ice, strongly appears to be the end product of a failure by 
certain leaders to follow and lor apply the law. In failing to follow the law the 
wider and more significant leadership issues arise. " 

lhe affidavit went on to give information about the position occupied by Mr Leymang at the 

time the decision relating to Mr X was made, and exhibited two letters from the Principal 

Immigration Officer at the Immigration Department to the Ombudsman saying that the 

Immigration Department was instructed by Mr Leymang, as First Secretary to the Prime 

Minister's Office, that the residency permit of Mr X was not to be renewed beyond 31 

December 1994. 

After the issue of the application, a number of interlocutory hearings occurred, and orders 

• 
were made common both to the application and to the Constitutional petition. It is plain that 

• 
these hearings became emotionally charged and are now the subject of many criticisms made 

by counsel for Mr Leymang. 

On 21 July 1997 the application seeking an order that Mr Leymang be examined before the 

Court came on for hearing. The order was made, and 2.00pm that day was fixed for the 

purposes of the examination. At 2.IOpm Mr Leymang was present in Comi and the 

examination commenced. Questions were asked of Mr Leymang by counsel for the 

Ombudsman. Although the lengthy examination touched on a number of issues, on the 

critical question as to the identity of the person or persons who had made complaint about Mr 

X, Mr Leymang refused to identity them. However, he said that he knew the identity of these 

• people, and indicated thatthcy were li'Oll1 the Sanma Province. 
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Both counsel for the Ombudsman, and the Court, explained to Mr Leymang the position in 

which he was placed by his refusal to answer. The hearing was adjourned to the following day 

at 2.00pm to enable Mr Leymang to consider his position and the warning that had been given 

.hat his continued refusal to answer could result in an order for his committal. 

• 

When the matter resumed on 22 July 1997 Mr Leymang was present, but said that he was not 

refusing to answer the relevant question, but was "objecting" to answering it. The Court then 

made the following orders and direction, before adjourning the hearing to 29 .luly 1997. 

"(I) Mr Leymang is givenfitrther time to seek legal advice, 

(2) A complaint be referred to the Public Prosecutor for the Contempt of Court 
under Section 82(l)(b) of the Penal Code Act; and 

(3) the Ombudsman is directed to prepare the Committal Proceedings under 
Section 82(3) (If the Penal Code. [CAP 135]. " 

On 29 .luly 1997, it was necessary for the Court to further adjourn the hearing until 18 

August, 1997. On that day a notice of motion issued on behalf of the Ombudsman and 

supported by an affidavit. was before the Court. The notice of motion sought orders that Mr 

Leymang be cOlllmitted to prison and pay the costs of the application. The basis for seeking 

the orders was that Mr Leymang had retllsed to answer questions on 21 and 22 July 1997 as 

to the identity of the people who had complained to him about Mr X. 

Mr Leymang indicated that he did not desire to cross-examine the deponent of the affidavit in 

• support of the notice of motion. The Court then ruled that the committal proceedings be heard 

III open Court (because oJ' the contidential nature of the examination. the hearing had 
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previously been conducted in a closed Court). Mr Leymang was not represented by a lawyer. 

He said he had no confidence in local lawyers and wished to be represented by overseas 

counsel, Mr de Robillard, from whom he had received legal advice. He advised the COUli that 

I~ position remained unaltered; he would not give the names. The COUli delivered its 

decision on whether Mr Leymang should be committed the following day, and the order for 
• 

committal was made. Reasons for the decision of the Court were handed down on 25 August 

1997. 

The Acting Chief Justice in his reasons noted the alternative procedures that were available in 

respect of civil and criminal contempt, and in patiicular the powers arising under s 23 of the 

Courts Act [CAP 122], and under s 82(l)(b) of the Penal Code Act ("the Penal Code") in the .. 
case of contempt in the face of the Court. His Lordship explained that he had directed that the 

;milter be referred to the Public Prosecutor so that if a charge of contempt were to be dealt 

with under s 82(1 )(b) of the Penal Code, the accused (Mr Leymang) would be given the 

appropriate oppOliunity to get legal advice and prepare his defence to the charge. However 

the Public Prosecutor had not laid a complaint so that procedure was not an option. The 

Acting Chief Justice decided that the appropriate course for him to take was to exercise the 

summary jurisdiction arising under the COllli's inherent powers to deal with contempt in the 

face of the Court. His Lordship was satistied that Mr Leymang had received the oppOliunity 

to obtain legal advice, to call evidence if he wished to do so, and to answer the charge of 

contempt against him. His Lordship was satistied that Mr Leymang was in no doubt why he 

was accused of contempt of Court. Findings beyond reasonable doubt were made that Mr 

• Leymang knew the answers to the relevant questions, that he refused to answer them, and that 

he had no lawfuljustilication for so refusing. 
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When the appeal to this Court was called on for hearing, Mr de Robillard announced his 

appearance for Mr Leymang, and then proceeded to address the Court as to the reasons why 

Joe considered he was entitled to appear. He said he was admitted as a local practitioner and 

held the necessary consents and registrations. He pursued this issue at some length, perhaps 
• 

because it was indirectly related to an interlocutory order that had been made by Lunabek 

AC.T which brought to the attention of Mr Leymang that if he wished to be represented by Mr 

de Robillard, or any other overseas counsel, it would be necessary for that person to obtain a . 

temporary practising certificate. Documents produced to the COllli by Mr de Robillard 

indicated that there was good reason for his Lordship to question the entitlement of Mr de 

Robillard to appear unless he obtained a temporary practising certificate. Mr de Robillard's 

• 
entitlement to appear as a local practitioner depends upon registrations and consents no 

lwoper evidence of which were before the Court, save for the Court's own register of 

practitioners (which did not bear out Mr de Robillard's assertion). The Court of Appeal 

informed Mr de Robillard that in these proceedings it could not adjudicate upon his 

entitlement to appear as a local practitioner. If he asserted the right to do so, in the 

circumstances of this case, which concerned the liberty of a subject, the Court would hear 

him. However it was entirely his decision whether he appeared, and if he were not duly 

qualified to appear in the capacity that he announced, he would be committing an offence 

against the provisions of the Legal Practitioners' ACI [CAP 119], as amended . 

• 
The notice of appeal liled by Mr Leymang raised 27 grounds. Many of them sought to 

.. impugn procedural steps and interlocutory orders that had been made either in the application 

under s 17(7) of the Omhudsma/1 ;iel or in relation to the Constitutional petition. Many of the 
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grounds were canvassed by Mr de Robillard, and were expanded upon in written materials 

submitted by him or by Mr Leymang before the hearing. To limit the range of issues, the 

Court, with the assistance of Mr de Robillard, identified eight principal topics which Mr 

~eymang sought to pursue on the appeal. These topics were as follows: 

• 
I. Was the Ombudsman lawfully in office? 

2. Was the Ombudsman lawfully entitled to inquire into the matter that she was 
investigating? 

.. 

3. Did the Ombudsman use proper procedures to initiate the proceedings in the Supreme 
Court and were the principles of natural justice applied in the hearing during which Mr 
Leymang refused to answer the Ombudsman's questions? 

4. Was the Court mistaken or confused about its role in relation to the application made 
under s 17(7) of the Ombudsman Act? 

5. Did the Ombudsman have to prove that the questions asked were necessmy and relevant 
to the enqui ry? 

6. Did the appellant because of his position and history have a lawful reason not to answer 
the questions? 

7. Did the appellant in fact answer the questions sufficiently in any event? 

8. All else failing, was the penalty proportionate and appropriate to the contempt? 

The Court then received submissions from Mr de Robillard topic by topic. At the conclusion 

of his submissions on topics I to 7, the Court adjourned. Upon reconvening, the Court 

announced that it considered none of the matters advanced on Mr Leymang's behalf provided 

an excuse for him not answering the Ombudsman's questions, and that the finding of 

contempt should be upheld. The Court then adjourned until the following day to enable Mr 

.. Leymang to obtain further advice and to consider his position. 
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When the hearing resumed, Mr Leymang gave evidence on oath, and in the course of doing so 

answered the outstanding questions. He purged his contempt. He also explained his reasons 

for not earlier answering the questions. As a leader in the community he considered that 

jleople, including the complainants about Mr X, came to him to raise issues of public 

importance. [1' he were not to honour the confidences which he thought had been reposed in .. 
him by those people, that could break down the traditional way in which people 

communicated with their leaders. Further, he had considered that the Ombudsman was 

exceeding her powers. He considered that her appointment was invalid and for that reason she 

had no entitlement to seek the information requested. His evidence amounted to a frank 

explanation and apology which the Court accepted as genuinely given. 

-Submissions were then made on the eighth point identified with Mr de Robillard, namely the 

• appropriate penalty. For reasons which are given under topic 8 below, the Court set aside the 

orders for imprisonment and for the payment of a tine, and in lieu directed that by way of 

costs on the application brought by the Ombudsman and on the appeal Mr Leymang pay to 

the Ombudsman the sum ofVt 200,000 by 25 fortnightly payments each ofVt 8,000, the tirst 

of such payments to be made on 1 December 1997, and upon condition that if default occur in 

the making of any fortnightly payment, the whole of the balance of the sum of Vt 200,000 

then outstanding would become immediately due and payable. 

In light orthe ultirnate disposition of the appeal it is not necessary for us to canvass everyone 

• of the complaints made by Mr de Robillard about orders and procedures which occurred in 

• the interlocutory stages. Refore giving our reasons on the eight points on which argument was 

addressed, we consider it is appropriate to note that harsh words and criticisms were 
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exchanged between the participants as the proceedings progressed in the Court below. Those 

participants were not only the Ombudsman and Mr Leymang, but counsel and the Judge 

himself. Whether all the statements and criticisms were justified or not occupied much time 

in argument before this Court. Hopefully, the discussion in the course of argument has helped • 
to clear the air. It appeared to us, generally speaking, that the statements and actions of the .. 
different participants which were criticised were responses based at the time on genuine 

perceptions and beliefs held by the participants. It seems to us likely that there were 

misunderstandings between the participants as to the motives of others. Misunderstandings 

led to aggressive resistance to requests, directions and suggestions. Strong heads were 

involved. The Court, the Ombudsman and her officers, and Mr Leymang, each by reason of 

their respective positions expected degrees of respect and compliance which exceeded what 

.. 
the others thought were appropriate. That led one or other of the participants at times to treat 

'the conduct of another as deliberately intended to be rude or defiant when that was not the 

purpose or intent. In the result, what should have been a fairly straightforward and orderly 

exercise between rational and intelligent people to obtain apparently innocuous information 

turned into an aggressive, emotionally charged battle. To take one example only, at one point 

when Mr Leymang had indicated his intention to the Court not to answer the questions, the 

learned Judge indicated that the case would be adjourned to the following day when Mr 

Leymang would be asked to reconsider his refusal, in light of the seriousness of his position. 

The Judge made a remark to the effect that he proposed to adjourn, go home and "take a 

bath", and reflect on the matter. This statement was one of the subjects of harsh criticism by 

• Mr Leymang on the ground that it was sarcastic, cynical and inappropriate. But obviously that 

~ was not the intent of the remark by the JlH;ige. The expression which was used is a common 

one hetween lawyers and judges. It means only that it is wise in a serious situation to stand 



• 
12 

back and allow a period of cool consideration before deciding what steps should next be 

taken. Plainly that was sensible advice which the Judge obviously hoped everybody would 

follow . 

• 

No usen!1 purpose would be served by enumerating other misunderstandings that occurred . . 
We turn to the eight topics that were argued. 

1. Was the Ombudsman lawfully in office? 

Article 61 of the Constitution of the Republic of Vanuatu provides for the appointment of the 

Ombudsman, and the requirements of this Article are repeated in s 5(1) of the Ombudsman 

Acl. By Article 61(1) the Ombudsman shall be appointed, for five years, by the President of 
.. 

the Republic after consultation with the Prime Minister, the Speaker of Parliament, the 

"leaders of the political parties represented in Parliament, the chairman of the National Council 

of Chiefs, the chairmen of the Local Government Councils, and the chairmen of the Public 

Service Commission and the Judicial Service Commission. 

Mr Leymang contended that an irregularity occurred in the appointment of the respondent in 

that there was a failure or irregularity in the consultation process contemplated by 

Article 61 (I). The argument asserted that the appointment of the Ombudsman was therefore 

inval id. It was submitted that this leads to the consequence that the Ombudsman could not 

validly exercise the powers contained in the Omhudsman Acl to require Mr Leymang to 

supply information or to answer questions under compulsion. A further consequence, so it 

~ was submitted, is that the Court could not lawli.llly require Mr Lcymang to answcr questions 

in proceedings brought by an invalidly appointed Ombudsman. 
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The evidence before the Court in the Ombudsman's applicati~n under s 17(7) does not enable 

any opinion to be formed as to the validity of the Ombudsman's appointment. No information 

o~ this topic was tendered before the trial Judge. Two brief, untested affidavits which the 

appellant sought to introduce on the hearing of the appeal fall far short of the necessary 

enquiry and evidence that would be needed. However, even if it is accepted to be the case that 

there was irregularity or omission in the course of the consultation process such that the 

Ombudsman does not now validly hold office, that fact would not relieve the appellant of his 

obligation to supply information and answer questions put to him by the person apparently 

holding office as Ombudsman. It is a well recognised rule of the common law that where a 

person has exercised powers and functions of a public office which involve the interests of 
.. 
the public and third persons, with colour of right, the exercise of those powers and functions 

is accorded validity even if there has been a defect or irregularity in the manner of the 

appointment of that person such that the appointment was not a valid one. This doctrine has 

been referred to as the doctrine of de facto office. The statement of the doctrine in the 

Supreme Court of Connecticut in State v Carroll (1871) 9 Am Rep 409, made by Butler CJ at 

427-428, speaking for the COUlt, has been approved and followed in many jurisdictions; in 

the Supreme Court of the United States in Norton v Shelhy COllnty (1886) 118 US 425, in the 

Court of Appeal in New Zealand in In re Aldridge (1893) 15 NZLR 361 at 368-379, in the 

High Court of Justice in England in Adams v Adams [1971] P 188 at 211-212, in the High 

Court of the Solomon Islands in Re Nori's Application [1989] LRC (Const) 10, and in 

Australia in The Queen v C({IV/horne (1977) 12 SASR 321 per Bray C.J at 329-334. Ward CJ 

, in Re Nori '.I' ApplicatiolJ described Butler CJ's statement as one of the classic definitions of 

an ofticer de facto. Butler C.J said: 
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"A d~finition slifficiently accurate and comprehensive to cover the whole 
ground must, I think, be substantially as follows: An officer de facto is one 
whose acts, though not those of a la>11ul officer, the law, upon principles of 
policy and justice, will hold valid so far as they involve the interests of the 
public and third persons, where the duties of the office were exercised: 

First, without a known appointment or election, but under such 
circumstances of reputation or acquiescence as were calculated to induce 
people, without inqui/y, to submit to or invoke his action, supposing him to be 
the officer he assumed to be. 

Second, under colour of a known and valid appointment or election, but 
where the oificer had failed to conform to some precedent requirement or 
condition, as to take an oath, give a bom!, or the like. 

Third, under colour of a known election or appointment, void, because the 
officer was not eligible, or because there was a want of power in the electing 
or appointing body, or by reason of some defect or irregularity in its exercise, 
sllch ineligibility, want (If power, or defect being unknown to the publi~ . 

Fourth, under colour of an election or appointment by or pursuant to a 
public unconstitutional law, b~fore the same is adjudged to be such. 

Any thing less comprehensive and discriminating will, I think, be imperfect 
and deceptive as a d~finitiol1. " 

In our Opl11l0n this Court should follow this statement. When applied to this case any 

irregularity in the appointment of the Ombudsman alleged by Mr Leymang falls squarely 

within the third class of case. 

Counsel for the appellant argued that the order of the Supreme Court made on 21 July 1997 

pursuant to which Mr Leymang was examined, should not have been made until the 

• Constitutional petition which questioned the validity of the Ombudsman's appointment was 

• heard and determined. We are unable to agree with that submission. It follows from the 

principle to which we have just referred, that even if it were established at a trial of the 
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Constitutional petition that the Ombudsman was not validly appointed, steps taken by her 

prior to that determination would not thereby be invalidated. In otherwise proper exercise of 

power under the Constitution and the Ombudsman Act, an enquiry had been initiated. As pmt 

of that enquiry, a proper request was made to Mr Leymang to supply information. His failure • 
to do so led to the application and order of the Supreme Court requiring him to answer on 

oath. The application was regularly made, and would remain a valid one even if it were 

subsequently determined that the appointment of the Ombudsman was invalid. The order for 

committal was based on Mr Leymang's refusal to answer on oath a question he was required 

to answer by the Court. It was an order made because of his refusal to comply with the order 

of the Court . 

.. 

.. 

2. Was the Ombudsman lawfully entitled to enquire into the matter she was 
investigating? 

• 

Article 62 of the Constitution provides for enquiry by the Ombudsman. Article 62(\) reads: 

"62(1) The Omhud\"nwn may enqUire into the conduct of any person or hody to which 
this Article applies -

(aJ upon receiving a complaint 1;'om a member of the public (or, ijjar reasons of 
incapacity, from his representative or a memher of his family) who claims to 
have been the victim of an injustice as a result of particular conduct; 

(bJ at the request ofa Minister, {[memher or Parliament, orthe National Council 
orChie/v or or a Local Government Council; or 

(c) of his own initiative. " 
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The functions of the Ombudsman enacted in s 14 of the Ombudsman Act deal with the 

exercise of this Constitutional power in more detail, and s 16 deals with the procedures to be 

followed in enquiries under one or other paragraphs of Article 62(1) . 

• 
Counsel for the appellant argued that the Ombudsman was conducting an enquiry following a 

complaint by Mr X. Mr X has since left the country of his own volition (before his residency 

permit expired). As he has now left the jurisdiction it was argued that the Ombudsman should 

not be expending resources on investigating a complaint which is now, in substance, dead. It 

was further argued, by reference to s 16(1)(c) of the Ombudsman Act that the Ombudsman is 

prevented from pursuing the enquiry. That provision empowers the Ombudsman to pursue an 

enquiry under Article 62(1) of the Constitution unless "the complainant has available to him 

• 
another remedy or channel of complaint that he could reasonably be expected to use". It was 

'argued that Mr X, if he is still aggrieved by anything that happened, could pursue a remedy by 

way of Constitutional petition, judicial review, or an action based on a wrongful exercise of 

statutory power. These arguments overlook other important provisions of the Constitution and 

the Ombudsman Act. Al1icle 62(1 )(c) of the Constitution enables the Ombudsman to pursue 

an enquiry "of his own initiative" and s 16(2) of the Ombudsman Act expressly provides that 

"The Ombudsman's declining to enquire into a complaint shall not affect his power to 

enquire generally into a matter on his own initiative". The exercise of power by the 

Ombudsman was not therefore dependent upon a complaint from an individual that could 

validly be pursued under s l6( 1) of the Ombudsman Act . 

• The argument also overlooks the sworn and unchallenged testimony of the Ombudsman that 

the enquiry was not limited to the complaint by Mr X, but was part of a wider enquiry into 
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whether there had been a breach of the leadership code enacted in Chapter 10 of the 

Constitution. 

The Acting Chief Justice was criticised for not having embarked on a detailed investigation as 
• 

to the scope of the enquiry being conducted by the Ombudsman, and whether the complaint 

made by Mr X should properly be excluded from the subject matter of an enquiry by s 16(1) 

of the Ombudsman Act. In the circumstances of this case there was no obligation cast upon 

the Acting Chief Justice to inquire into such matters. The application was made on the sworn 

evidence of the Ombudsman as to the subject matter of the enquiry. That evidence was not 

challenged. The Acting Chief Justice was entitled to act upon that information, and on the 

fact that the Ombudsman was empowered to conduct an enquiry on her own initiative . 
.. 

• A further submission was made by counsel that as the Ombudsman Act did not come into 

force until 18 September 1995, the Ombudsman was not entitled to inquire into events which 

occurred before that date. The primary source of power for the Ombudsman to conduct an 

enquiry arises under the Constitution which came into force in 1980. The Ombudsman Act 

gave expression to that source of power. There is nothing in the Act which expressly states 

that the power of enquiry is limited to conduct which occurred after the commencement of the 

Act. There is no reason in principle why the Act should be read down in this way, and the fact 

that the Constitution made provision for the Office of Ombudsman and enquiries of the kind 

referred to in Article 62 provides a good reason for not reading down the Act to exclude 

conduct contrary to the Constitution, which occurred before the passing of the Ombudsman 

I> .'leI. 
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3. Did the Ombudsman use proper procedures to initiate the proceedings in the 
Supreme Court, and were the principles of natural justice applied in the 
hearings? 

In the course of his submissions counsel for the appellant conceded that the application 

b~ought under s 17(7) was regular in form and followed correct procedures in the initial 

st'ages. However error occurred, so it was contended, when the Court ordered Mr Leymang to 

appear before the Court to furnish the information by examination on oath. Pursuant to this 

order Mr Leymang was required to enter the witness box, be sworn, and to answer questions 

put to him by counsel for the Ombudsman in the presence of the Judge. Counsel for the 

appellant contended that the correct procedure would have been for the Court to make an 

order directing Mr Leymang to answer questions put to him by the Ombudsman out of COUli. 

JJpon a failure to comply with that order, the matter would be brought on again before the 

Court, and the appropriate action would be in the form of civil contempt proceedings for non-
• 

compliance with an order of the Court. Counsel for the appellant submitted that if this 

procedure had been followed there would not have been a contempt in the face of the Court. 

Counsel contended that the Ombudsman's enquiry constituted an administrative procedure, 

but that by requiring Mr Leymang to answer questions on oath li'om the witness box, the 

Couli had erroneously turned the enquiry into a judicial proceeding. We do not agree with 

these submissions. They are contrary to the terms of s 17(7) of the Ombudsman Act which is 

set out earlier in this jUdgment. That sub-section expressly contemplates that the person who 

fails to answer questions put by the Ombudsman pursuant to the provisions of s 17 may be 

sumlllonsed "to appear bel(lre the Court to tllrnish the information". The procedure envisaged .. 
by the section was i()l1owed in this case. This is an entirely sensible procedure. It recognises 

that the person concerned has already refused to answer questions asked out of Coun. The 
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procedure intends that the questions will be put in Court, in the face of the authority of the 

Court, and with ajudicial of1icer present to explain to the examinee the obligation to answer, 

and, if necessary, the question. The Act intends that when the person summonsed appears 

before the Court to furnish information, that person will do so as part of a routine judicial . 
procedure. A failure to comply with an order of the Court to answer questions asked of the 

person whilst that person is under oath in the witness box, amounts to a contempt in the face 

of the Court. 

We do not propose to discuss each of the alleged procedural miscarriages which counsel 

endeavoured to identify as constituting a breach of the principles of natural justice. Some 

involved an alleged failure to serve documents or give adequate notice of hearings, but the 

~ 

fact is that Mr Leymang was present when the crucial orders were made. Furthermore, it is 

"clear that the Acting Chief Justice was at pains to explain procedural steps to Mr Leymang, 

and that Mr Leymang understood what was required of him. The problems that then arose 

were due to Mr Leymang refusing to comply because he thought, for one reason or another, 

that he should not be required to do as ordered. 

[n the context of the committal application he was afforded more opportunities than might 

normally be expected to obtain legal advice and to reconsider his position. Opportunities for 

him to do so were offered on 21,22 and 29 July and 18 and 19 August 1997 . 

• Other alleged miscarriages were without substance. Counsel, when pressed by the Court, was 

.. unable to articulate how any o/" the alleged miscarriages had caused Mr Leymang to sui1er an 

injustice. 
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We should however, deal with one serious allegation made against the Acting Chief Justice, 

namely that he prejudged the issue and showed bias against Mr Leymang by the terms of the 

~rder made on 22 July 1997 directing that a complaint be referred to the Public Prosecutor for 

contempt of Court under s 82(1)(b) of the Penal Code, and directing the Ombudsman to 

prepare "Committal Proceedings" under s 82(3) of the Penal Code. It is far fetched and 

mischievous on the part of counsel to suggest that this order reflects bias or prejudgment on 

the pati of the Judge. It is plain that the order cannot be so interpreted. The position in which 

Mr Leymang found himself had already been explained to him. It was clear that he was 

refusing to answer questions. He had been warned that his failure to answer could amount to 

him being in contempt of Court, and counsel for the Ombudsman had informed the Judge that 

• 
the Ombudsman would seek an order tor committal. The obvious purpose of the order was to 

, ensure that if contempt proceedings were to be pursued against Mr Leymang, that he be given 

proper notice in writing in advance of the next hearing specifying exactly the conduct alleged 

to constitute the contempt. Far from demonstrating any breach of the rules of natural justice, 

the order was designed to ensure that the rules of natural justice were complied with. It is 

obvious from the steps that were taken by the Acting Chief .Tustice that he was at pains to 

ensure that every proper procedural step was taken in the interests of fairness to Mr Leymang. 

4. Was the Court mistaken or confused about its role in relation to the application 
made under s 17(7) of the Ombudsman Act? 

This question raised the same point which is dealt with in submission 3 above, namely 

.. whether the Court was in error in requiring Mr Leymang to enter the witness box. The Court 

was not mistaken or confused about its role. 
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5. Did the Ombudsman have to prove that the questions asked were necessary or 
relevant to the enquiry? 

The powers of the Ombudsman are undoubtedly very wide. The Ombudsman may inquire 
• 

into any matter within Article 61 of the Constitution and s 14 of the Ombudsman Act. Further, 

Article 65 of the Constitution provides that "The Ombudsman shall not be subject to the 

direction or control of any other person or body in the exercise of his functions". 

However, wide though they are, these powers do not lead to the conclusion urged by counsel 

for the Ombudsman, namely that a Judge presiding over a s 17(7) application and 

examination is debarred from considering the relevance of questions asked by counsel for the 

• 
Ombudsman. Nor does the width of the Constitutional provisions lead to the conclusion that 

the decision of the Ombudsman to pursue a particular line of enquiry, or to ask particular 

questions, can never be the subject of judicial review. Article 65 must be understood to mean 

that the Ombudsman shall not be subject to the direction or control of any other person in the 

lawful performance of the powers which arise under Article 61-63 of the Constitution. 

However, if the lawtlll performance of those powers is exceeded, the Ombudsman is subject 

to restraint by the Court. Further, insofar as the Ombudsman A ct lays down procedures and 

imposes limitations upon the exercise of power by the Ombudsman, the Court has jurisdiction 

to enforce compliance with those provisions. 

• The question of relevance in investigations conducted under wide statutory powers has arisen 

to in other jurisdictions. In McGuiness II AI/orney-General (Vicl.) (1940) 63 CLR 73, the High 
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Court of Australia considered an objection to the relevance of a particular question to the 

subject matter of an enquiry by a Royal Commissioner. Latham CJ at 86 said: 

• 
"The Royal Commissioner ... was not appointed to determine an issue 
between the Crown and a party, or between other parties. The Commission 
was appointed to conduct an investigation for the purpose of discovering 
whether there was any evidence ()f the suggested bribery. Such an 
investigation may be, and ought to be, a searching investigation - an 
inquisition as distinct .trom the determination of an issue. In the course of 
such an inquiry it would or at least might be a valuable step forward if the 
identity of the persons giving information to the editor of the newspaper 
could be discovered so that they could be summoned for the purpose of giving 
evidence on oath as to their knowledge, or as to the source of their 
injiJrmation if they had no direct personal knowledge of the matters in 
question. " 

• Ross v Costigan (1982) 41 ALR 319 also concerned the power of a Royal Commission. 

• 
Ellicott J, in the Federal Court of Australia, said at 334-335: 

"In determining what is relevant to a Royal Commission inquily, regard must 
he had to its investigatory character. Where broad terms of r~ference are 
given to it, as in this case, the Commission is not determining issues between 
parties but conducting a thorough investigation into the subject matter. It 
may have to jiJlhrw leads. It is not bound by rules of evidence. There is no set 
order in which evidence must be adduced before it. The links in a chain ()f 
evidence will usually be dealt with separately. Expecting to prove all the links 
in a sH.lliected chain of events, the Commission or counsel assisting, may 
neverthelessfailto do so. But if the Commission bonafide seeks to establish a 
relevant connection between certain facts and the subject matter of the 
inquiry, it should not be regarded as outside its terms of reference in doing 
so. Thisjlowsfi"Oli1 the very nature (!f"the inquiry being undertaken. 

... This does not mean, of course, that a Commission can go ofr on a Folic of 
its 0l1'n. 

However, I think a court ij'it has power to do so, should be velY simI' to 
restrain it Commission .ft·om pursuing a particular line 0/ questioning and 
should not do so unless it is sati.\fied, in elleet, that the Commissioli is going 
oil on a frolic 0/ its own. Ij'ti1ere is a real as distinct FOIll (} .jimcijiil 
possibility that a line a/questioning may provide iI?jiml1ation directly or even 
indirectly relevant to the mailers II'hich the Commission is required to 
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investigate under its letters patent, such a line of questioning should, in my 
opinion, be treated as relevant to the inquily. 

Ellicott J's decision was affirmed by the Full Court which said that "what questions the 

C~mmissioner should ask, or allow to be asked, is a matter for his own good sense and 

jutlgment", and that what he can look at is "what he bona fide believes will assist him in his 

• 

• 

inquiry": (1982) 41 ALR 337 at 350-1. 

In Douglas v Pindling [1996] AC 890, after referring to Ross v Costigan at first instance and 

in the Full Court, and to observations in the Court below that certiorari should not go unless 

the Commission had gone off "on a frolic of its own or is acting mala fide", and that because 

.he Commission is an investigative body, it "must necessarily embark on what might be 

regarded as fishing", the Privy Council said at 904: . 

In their Lordships' Opl11l0n these passages correctly indicate the 
considerations which should guide a commission of inquiry in deciding on the 
issue of summonses for production of the banking records of an individual or 
a company. !/ there is material be/ore the commission which induces in the 
members of it a bona fide belie/ that such records may cast light on matter.s· 
falling within the terms of r~ference, then it is the duty of the commission to 
issue the summonses. 11 is nol necessary that the commission should believe 
that the records will in fact have such a result. The commission can do no 
more than pursue lines of inquity that appear promiSing These lines mayor 
may not in the end prove productive. 

As regards the .limction 0/ the court in the event that the commission '.I' 
decision to issue a summons is challenged, the mal1er is to be approached 
upon the tradilionaijudicial review basis ... In particular, the decision of the 
commission should not be set aside unless it is such as no reasonable 
commission, correctly directing itselF in law, could properly arrive at. II 
would appear thai Ihis is the lesl which Ellicoll J had in mind., when he 
spoke ola commission going off' 'on ali-otic ulils own '. " 
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In the present case however there is no need to resort to the application of these principles. 

On the information before the Court, the question which Mr Leymang refused to answer was 

plainly relevant to a lawful enquiry, whether the enquiry was a limited one into the complaint 

of Mr X about the non-renewal of his residency permit, or whether it was a wider enquilY into 
• 
potential breaches of the leadership code. The affidavit in support of the s 17(7) application 
• 
annexed letters which showed that Mr Leymang had conveyed an instruction to the 

Immigration Department not to renew the residency pennit of Mr X. The enquiries of the 

Ombudsman had ascertained that Mr Leymang said that complaints had been made to him 

about the conduct of Mr X. A necessary line of enquiry was therefore to ascertain the identity 

ofthose complainants to enable further enquiries to be pursued to ascertain whether there was 

substance in the complaints which could have justified the non-renewal of the permit. 

• In any event the question of relevance was not raised by Mr Leymang at the time of his 

examination. It was not on that basis that he refused to answer the questions, and the occasion 

for the Judge to rule on the question of relevance did not arise. 

6. Did the appellant because of his position and histol), have a lawful reason not to 
answer the questions? 

Counsel for the appellant suggested that because the appellant was the First Secretary to the 

Prime Minister, questions posed to him might seek the disclosure of a matter of State. It is 

difficult to see how that could be the case on the evidence before the Court, but the 

submission is irrelevant on the ground that this is not a reason that was ever advanced by Mr 

Leymang for his refusal (0 answer. 
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It was also suggested at one point in the argument that because of Mr Leymang's leadership 

role and status in the community, he should not be asked to breach confidences reposed in 

him by members of the public. It would be quite contrary to the intention of Article 62 of the 

Constitution to allow a matter of private confidentiality of that kind to defeat the functions of , 

the Ombudsman, and legitimate enquiry into possible breaches of the Leadership Code . 
• 

Confidences of this kind have never been recognised as providing a legal privilege against 

disclosure where there is otherwise a legal obligation to answer questions. The best known 

example where the existence of such a privilege has been denied is in relation to joumalists 

who seek to protect their sources of information: Attorney-General v Mulholland and Fester 

[1963] 2 QB 477 and McGuinness v Attorney-General (Viet.) cited above . 

• 
Finally on this point, it was submitted that because reports of the Ombudsman were often 

published in the mcdia, it could be anticipated that information given by Mr Leymang to the 

Ombudsman might become public knowledge. This, it was argued, would be unfair to Mr 

Leymang, and to those members of the public who had given him information on a 

confidential basis. This submission cannot be accepted as it is also contrary to the intention of 

the Constitution as expressed in Articles 62 and 63. 

Matters of confidentiality, and the protection of confidential information is expressly dealt 

with in the Ombudsman Act. By s 18, the Ombudsman and officers of the Ombudsman are 

subject to the provisions of the Official Secrets Act [CAP Ill]. Section 19(3) and (4) provide 

for limited disclosure of information during the course of an enquiry. Section 20 provides for 

II a heavy fine or imprisonment if secrecy is not preserved. However, once an enquiry is 

complete, a report must be made by the Ombudsman to the Prime Minister if the Ombudsman 
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concludes that any of the matters referred to in Article 63(2) of the Constitution occurred. 

That report will be a public document unless the Ombudsman decides to keep the report or 

parts of it confidential to the Prime Minister and the person in charge of the relevant public 

service on the grounds of security or public interest: see Article 63(3) of the Constitution, and 

s 24 of the Ombudsman Act. Even where a report is to be made public, s 19(5)(d) imposes a 
• 

restraint on the disclosure of information that is recognised by law as confidential 

information, or that is of a personal nature. 

Subject to these restraints, the Constitution recognises that it is in the public interest in 

furtherance of open and honest government that adverse findings be brought to the notice of 

the public. These detailed provisions dealing, on the one hand, with the protection of 
II> 

confidential information, and, on the other hand, with its disclosure, make it clear that the 

'legislative scheme intends that a person required by the Ombudsman to reveal information 

that is of a private or confidential nature must disclose it to the Ombudsman. 

7. Did the appellant in fact answer the questions sufficiently in any event? 

It is plain on the evidence that Mr Leymang did not answer the Ombudsman's questions 

sufficiently, and this was ultimately acknowledged by Mr Leymang when he purged his 

contempt. 

• 
It was for these reasons that the Court indicated to the parties at the end of Mr de Robillard's 

submissions that it considered the finding of contempt was properly made. Then followed the 

events on the following day when the contempt was purged. The remaining question after that 

occurred related to the penalty imposed by the trial Judge. 
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8. Was the penalty proportionate and appropriate to the contempt? 

Once the contempt was purged, the sentence no longer remained an appropriate one. 

As we indicated earlier in these reasons, the Court accepted as genume Mr Leymang' s 

explanation for his refusal to answer, and for his resistance to the persistent steps taken by the 

Ombudsman to force an answer. 

Rightly or wrongly, and we are in no position to judge, Mr Leymang held doubts about the 

validity of the Ombudsman's appointment. We accept that he erroneously believed that these 

.aoubts provided him with a valid reason for not providing the Ombudsman with the 

,information required from him. Moreover, this is the first time a challenge to the powers of 

thl: Ombudsman has been mounted. Against this background the Court accepts Mr 

Leymang's evidence that he had not embarked upon a deliberate defiance of the scheme 

which the Constitution provides for the protection of the citizens of the Republic of Vanuatu. 

This protection is to ensure that the rule of law applies to every person in the Republic and 

that no one is or can be above the law. Mr Leymang was himself one of the founding fathers 

of the Constitution and it would indeed be most regrettable if he were guilty of a deliberate 

defiance of this Constitutional protection, but we do not think he was. Rather, we think Mr 

Leymang acted genuinely but with a misguided understanding of the legal consequences of 

his belief. 

It is important, and entirely consistent with Mr Leymang's evidence, that once this Court 

ruled against his arguments, he then complied with the order of the Court. In these 
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circumstances the Court considered that the most important consideration was that a 

substantial contribution towards the costs of the proceedings be ordered against Mr Leymang, 

and that no further penalty be imposed. The order for costs is, in our view, sufficient in itself 

t~ indicate the seriousness of a failure to answer questions lawfully put by the Ombudsman in 

the course of a legitimate enquiry. We emphasise that the decision not to impose any further 
• 

penalty upon Mr Leymang is in part due to the fact that the powers of the Ombudsman were 

hitherto untested in the Courts, and Mr Leymang acted out of a genuine but erroneous belief 

that he was not compellable by law. 

[n future cases, the powers of the Ombudsman will have been clarified by this decision. 

Bel iet's of the kind held by Mr Leymang will provide no excuse to withhold information from 

• • • 

the Ombudsman. A contemptuous refusal to supply information known to a person when 

• ordered to do so by the Court in the course of an enquiry of this kind is a very serious matter, 

and it will usually be appropriate to impose a period of imprisonment as a coercive measure 

to ensure compliance. 

Secul"ity for costs 

Finally, counsel for the Ombudsman, requested that the Court of Appeal consider what 

procedure should be followed where a respondent to an appeal is desirous of obtaining 

security for costs. The Comi of Appeal Rules 1973, in the absence of any new Rules made on 

the topic after Independence, apply to govern procedural steps in an appea\. Those Rules 
• 

make provision for security for costs in Rule 22. That Rule reads: 

• 

.. (I) The appel/ani shall -
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forthwith upon the filing of any riotice <!f appeal, pay to the Registrar of 
the High Court the fee prescribed for the filing of such notice; and 

upon request of the said Registrar made at any time after the filing of 
the notice of appeal -

(i) deposit with the Registrar such sum as the Registrar 
shall assess as the probable expenses of the preparation, 
certification and copying of the record; and 

(ii) deposit such further sum, or give security therefor to the 
satisfaction of the Registrar, as the Registrar maY/ix as security 
for the prosecution of the appeal and for the payment of all such 
costs as may be ordered to be paid by the appellant. 

In the event of non-compliance with provisions of paragraph (1), or in the 
event of any security required to be given not being given, or being given in 
part only, within the time directed or within such extended time as may be 
allowed in accordance with rule 9, all proceedings in the appeal shall be 
stayed, unless the Court of Appeal shall otherwise order, and the appeal shall 
be listed fiJr the next session of the Court of Appeal fiJr a formal order of 
dismissal. " 

In the present appeal, by letter to the Registrar of the COUlt of Appeal, the Ombudsman asked 

the Registrar to "request" that security for costs be deposited by the appellant with the 

Registrar under Rule 22(1 )(b )(ii). The Ombudsman suggested an amount as an appropriate 

sum. The Registrar did not act on that letter and no request for a deposit of security for costs 

was made to the appellant. 

The Court of Appeal Rules \ 973 were drafted when an entirely different structure of courts 

and court administration was in place. Rule 22 appears to be drafted on the assumption that 

the former Registrar referred to in the Rules would exercise powers of a kind that are not now 

exercised by the Registrar 01' the Court of Appeal of the Republic of Vanuatu. Rule 22, 

insofar as its terms make provision for the deposit with the Registrar of a sum of money as 

security for costs of the respondent in the event that the Court of Appeal orders that the 
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appellant pay the respondent's costs of the appeal, is not appropriate to present circumstances. 

A respondent to an appeal to the Court of Appeal should not seek to invoke these provisions. 

Rather, a respondent seeking secllfity for costs should apply on Summons to a single Judge of 

tl!e Supreme Court under Order 65, r 4 of the High Court (Civil Procedure) Rules, 1994 (the 

Blue Book). That rule provides: 

"065, r 4. 
In any cause or matter in which security fbI' costs is required. the security shall be of 
such amount, and be given at such times, and in such manner and form, as the Court 
shall direct. " 

The application will then be decided by the Judge. If security for costs is ordered, the Judge 

will fix an appropriate amount in the order, and direct how security is to be given, e.g. by • 
payment into Court, or by bank guarantee. 

The formal orders of the Court announced on 14 October 1997 are: 

I. Appeal against the tinding of contempt in the face of the Court by the appellant is 

dismissed. 

2. The contempt having now been purged by the appellant before the Court of Appeal, 

the orders contained in the order of committal dated 19 August 1997 are set aside. 

3. Mr Leymang shall pay towards the respondent's costs of Civil case No.3 of 1997, and 

of this appeal, the sum of Vt 200,000 payable by 25 fortnightly payments each of Vt 8,000, 

the first of such payments to be made on I December 1997, and upon condition that if default 
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occur in the making of any fortnightly payment the whole of the balance of the sum of Vt 

200,000 then outstanding shall become immediately due and payable. 

J.l.easons published at Port Vila on the \ I( day of 

Justice Bruce Robertson 

.Iustice John von Doussa 
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